

Immobilization of leopards (Panthera pardus)

Nathalie Jansson

Uppsala 2023

Immobilization of leopards (Panthera pardus)

Immobilisering av leopard (Panthera pardus)

Nathalie Jansson

Supervisor: Jens Jung, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

(SLU), Department of Animal Environment and Health

Examiner: Gunnar Carlsson, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

(SLU), Department of Biomedical Science and Veterinary Public

Health

Credits: 15

Level: Bachelor's level, G2E

Course title: Independent project in Veterinary Medicine

Course coordinating dept: Department of Biomedical Science and Veterinary Public Health

Course code: EX0862

Programme/education: Veterinary Medicine Programme

Place of publication: Uppsala Year of publication: 2023

Online publication: http://stud.epsilon.slu.se

Key words: Panthera pardus, immobilization, anaesthesia **Nyckelord:** Panthera pardus, immobilisering, anestesi

Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet
Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

Faculty of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science Department of Clinical Sciences

Publishing and archiving

Approved students' theses at SLU are published electronically. As a student, you have the copyright to your own work and need to approve the electronic publishing. If you check the box for **YES**, the full text (pdf file) and metadata will be visible and searchable online. If you check the box for **NO**, only the metadata and the abstract will be visible and searchable online. Nevertheless, when the document is uploaded it will still be archived as a digital file. If you are more than one author, the checked box will be applied to all authors. You will find a link to SLU's publishing agreement here:

• https://libanswers.slu.se/en/faq/228318

⊠ YES, I/we hereby give permission to publish the present thesis in accordance with the SLU
agreement regarding the transfer of the right to publish a work.
□ NO, I/we do not give permission to publish the present work. The work will still be archived
and its metadata and abstract will be visible and searchable.

Table of contents

Publishing and archiving	3
Summary	1
Sammanfattning	2
Introduction	3
Method & material	4
Literature review	5
NMDA-receptor antagonists	5
α2-receptor agonists	5
Benzodiazepines	6
Opioids	6
Dopamine-receptor antagonists	7
Discussion	7
α2-receptor agonist + NMDA-receptor antagonist	8
NMDA-receptor antagonist + benzodiazepine	9
α2-agonist + NMDA-receptor antagonist + benzodiazepine	10
$Opioid + benzodiazepine + \alpha 2$ -agonist	11
Opioid + dopamine-antagonist + α2-agonist	12
Other combinations worth mentioning used in felids	13
Free-ranging versus captive animals	13
Acknowledgments	14
References	15
Personal communication	19

Summary

Chemical immobilization and anaesthesia are often necessary to enable veterinary procedures in wild animals. Numerous protocols can be composed with available drugs in different combinations and ratios. The aim of this literature study was to identify advantages and disadvantages with available, and the most common, immobilization protocols used in leopards and to compare immobilization of wild leopards with immobilization of captive leopards.

In this thesis, effects of drugs from the substance classes NMDA-receptor antagonists, α 2-receptor agonists, benzodiazepines, opioids and dopamine-receptor antagonists were studied in different protocols. All drugs have their advances and drawbacks. Desirable effects can be potentiated and unwanted effects can be reduced, or eliminated, by combining different drugs. With the right ratios, the immobilization can be optimized for both the individual and the situation.

Leopards are classified as vulnerable which strengthens the importance of preserving each individual by learning how to immobilize them safely. This is important not only for the leopard but also for the team working with the animal. Reliable and predictable sedation or anaesthesia eases the work and enhances safety during the treatment procedure. Some of the mentioned sedatives or anaesthetic agents can be reversed by using an antidot. Protocols with accessible reversal drugs have increased in popularity since it enables a quick recovery, which could be beneficial in field situations.

Working with free-ranging and captive animals is different in many aspects, for example capturing method, choice of protocol and dosages. A captive animal is more relaxed which is beneficial due to the negative effect of stress on immobilization. Free-ranging animals often require higher doses because of the higher stress levels. Stress also makes the effect of drugs more unpredictable. Most challenging in field situations is that underlaying health conditions are unknown, body weight is uncertain and working conditions can be tough. Therefore, close monitoring and knowledge of how to treat an overdose or underdose is of outer importance.

When working with wild leopards a quick effect, wide safety margin, reliability and availability of reversal drugs are valuable factors. However, which protocol to recommend seems to be built mainly upon personal preferences, experience, and availability. Unquestionably most important is to possess good knowledge of the drugs used to facilitate a safe sedation or anaesthesia.

Sammanfattning

Kemisk immobilisering och anestesi är ofta en nödvändighet för att möjliggöra veterinärt arbete med vilda djur. Med de substanser som finns tillgängliga kan många immobiliseringsprotokoll kombineras i olika kombinationer och med olika proportioner. Målet med den här litteraturstudien var att identifiera fördelar och nackdelar med de tillgängliga protokoll som används för leoparder samt att jämföra immobilisering av vilda leoparder med immobilisering av leoparder i fångenskap.

I denna uppsats studerades protokoll innehållandes läkemedel som tillhör substansklasserna NMDA-receptorantagonister, α2-receptorantagonister, bensodiazepiner, opioider och dopamin-receptorantagonister. Alla substanser har sina för- och nackdelar. Önskvärda effekter kan potentieras och oönskade effekter kan reduceras, eller helt elimineras, genom att kombinera olika substanser tack vare synergistiska effekter mellan läkemedlen. Med rätt proportioner kan immobiliseringen optimeras, både för individ och situation.

Leoparder klassas som en sårbar art vilket ökar vikten av lära sig söva dem på ett säkert sätt för öka chansen för artens överlevnad. Detta är viktigt både för leoparden och för teamet som arbetar med djuret. Tillförlitlig och förutsägbar sedering eller anestesi underlättar arbetet och ökar säkerheten för alla inblandade. En del substanser kan reverseras med antidot. Den typen av protokoll har ökat i popularitet eftersom det möjliggör ett snabbt uppvak vilket kan vara en stor fördel i fältsituationer.

Att arbeta med vilda djur jämfört med djur i fångenskap skiljer sig i många avseenden, exempelvis val av protokoll, fångstmetod och läkemedelsdoser. Ett hållet djur är oftast lugnare vilket är en fördel eftersom stress har en negativ inverkan på läkemedlens effekt. Vilda djur kräver oftast högre läkemedelsdoser på grund av de högre stressnivåerna och läkemedlens effekter blir mer oförutsägbara. Det mest utmanande vid immobilisering av vilda djur är att djurens underliggande hälsotillstånd och exakta vikt är okänd samt att omständigheterna i fält vara tuffa. Det är därför ytterst viktigt att noggrant kontrollera djurets kroppsliga parametrar för att i tid upptäcka tecken på överdos respektive underdos samt att veta hur denna ska hanteras.

Vid immobilisering av vilda leoparder är en snabb effekt, bred säkerhetsmarginal, pålitlighet och tillgänglighet av reverserande läkemedel önskvärda egenskaper. Vilket protokoll som rekommenderas bygger främst på personliga preferenser, erfarenhet och tillgänglighet. Det allra viktigaste är att besitta goda kunskaper om substanserna som används för att främja en säker sedering eller anestesi.

Introduction

The leopard (*Panthera pardus*) is the smallest of four large felids in the genus *Panthera* that also includes lion (*Panthera leo*), tiger (*Panthera tigris*) and jaguar (*Panthera onca*). Leopards are solitary, highly adaptable and have accomplished to thrive in various habitats (Stein & Hayssen, 2013). The colour of the coat and its pattern vary greatly geographically. Phylogenetic analysis has resulted in further division of *Panthera pardus* into nine subspecies widely distributed throughout southern Asia and sub-Saharan Africa (Uphyrkina *et al.*, 2001). This thesis will mainly focus on leopards (*Panthera pardus*) without further division into subspecies. The International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN, 2015) classifies leopards as vulnerable with declining populations. An increasing human population, habitat loss and poaching are examples of factors causing a steady decline (Uphyrkina *et al.*, 2001). In 2016, only around 25% of the species' historical range remained (Jacobson *et al.*, 2016).

Immobilization is required to enable several veterinary procedures in wild animals. Chemical immobilization aims to disable mobility and can result in anything from light sedation to unconsciousness depending on the method, drugs used and doses (Fahlman, 2005). For short and simple procedures chemical immobilization can be used, but more complicated and prolonged operations require general anaesthesia, resulting in loss of consciousness and sensation (Morris, 2001; Fahlman, 2005).

Before chemical immobilization, the leopard must first be localised and captured. Traditional capture methods for wild felids are box traps (de Araujo *et al.*, 2020). The use of foot snares for felids has increased in popularity for safer, simpler and more cost-efficient captures (Johansson *et al.* 2022). After capture, the approach is made quietly and not closer to the animal than ten meters. From distance, the bodyweight is estimated to calculate drug dose required for immobilization. Post injection, ten minutes is often adequate for drugs to give effect (de Araujo *et al.*, 2020). Signs of immobilization are salivation, lip licking, staggering movements, and dilation of pupils. Tactile responses can be examined to test if the leopard is fully sedated. When the leopard is fully sedated and safe to work with, the tongue should be kept outside the mouth and the head straight (Deka *et al.*, 2012). Correct positioning is important to facilitate breathing. Blindfolds can be used to limit external stimuli (Johansson *et al.*, 2022). Body temperature, heart and respiratory rate should be monitored continuously during the procedure (Deka *et al.*, 2012).

After examination or treatment is completed, a leopard caught with a cage, can be put back in the cage with the rear end facing the veterinarian to enable continuous monitoring of body temperature. The cage should be covered to block the sight of the team which helps the leopard to stay calm. Ear-movements and eye-blinking are initial signs of recovery. When fully awaken the animal can be released (Deka *et al.*, 2012).

To restrict this thesis the following questions were addressed:

- What protocols are used to immobilize leopards and what are their pros and cons?
- Is there a difference between immobilization of free-ranging versus captive leopards?

Method & material

The method chosen for this article was a literature study, and the literature was collected from the databases *Google Scholar*, *Web of Science*, *PubMed* and the library catalogue *Primo* at the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Words that have been used for search consisted of: "immobilization", "Panthera pardus", "anaesthesia", "a2-receptor agonist", "benzodiazepine", "NMDA-receptor antagonist", "opioid", "dopamine receptor antagonist "wildlife", "wild felids" and "reversal". All search words were used in different combinations. Relevant articles were also found in references of studied articles. Since the number of relevant articles was limited, no restriction was used based on the year of publication.

Very few studies were found based solely on leopards, therefore literature covering other wild felids was used. Two experienced veterinarians in South Africa were consulted who forwarded useful articles containing protocols they themselves use. The veterinarians were also questioned which anaesthetic agents they used and if they had experienced any side effects.

Literature review

NMDA-receptor antagonists

Glutamate, the main excitatory neurotransmitter, interacts primarily with the N-methyl-D-aspartic acid (NMDA)-receptor (Olney, 1997). By binding the ion-coupled NMDA-receptor, antagonism results in disturbed neural activity (Chen & Lipton, 2006). Two commonly used NMDA-receptor antagonists and dissociative agents in veterinary medicine are ketamine and tiletamine. Exact effect of dissociative anaesthesia is unknown (Kohrs & Durieux, 1998). NMDA-receptor antagonists put the animal in a cataleptic state, with eyes kept open, a slow nystagmic gaze and intact corneal reflex (Lin *et al.*, 1993).

Ketamine and tiletamine can provide deep anaesthesia and analgesia depending on dose (Cohen *et al.*, 2018). Blood pressure may increase but without clinically significant respiratory depression (Idvall *et al.*, 1979). Tiletamine has a prolonged duration and better analgetic effect than ketamine, effective for general anaesthesia in cats (Lin *et al.*,1993). Both drugs increase muscle tonus and are therefore often combined with a centrally acting muscle relaxant (Carter & Story, 2013). Eventual seizures can be mastered by a slow intravenous administration of diazepam (Deem, 2004). Provided analgesia is proved insufficient for surgery but can be increased with supplemental substances (Lin *et al.*, 1993).

Iteration of ketamine results in prolonged induction time, increased stress, and weak immobilization, but is considered unproblematic for adjusting the depth and duration (Belsare & Athreya, 2010). Tiletamine overdoses in cats are characterized by hypoventilation and apnoea. Apnoea can be reduced or completely avoided with a slow intravenous injection of benzodiazepines (Lin *et al.*, 1993). To reduce side effects of tiletamine, the substance is only available in combination with the benzodiazepine zolazepam (Klein & Klide, 1989).

Direct antagonists of ketamine and tiletamine are to my knowledge absent (Kreeger & Arnemo, 2007 see Fahlman, 2008).

α2-receptor agonists

Alpha2-receptor agonists (α 2-agonists) provide sedation, muscle relaxation and analgetic effects (Flaherty, 2013). The four primarily used α 2-agonists are xylazine, medetomidine, romfidine and detomidine (Carter & Story, 2013).

The sedating and analgetic effect, intensity and duration of medetomidine is dose-dependent in cats (Ansah *et al.*, 2002; Jalanka & Roeken, 1990). After injection of xylazine the analgetic effect lasts for 20 minutes and does not depend on the dose (Knight, 1980 see Williams *et al.*, 2002). Compared to other drugs in the substance group, xylazine has a relatively short duration and low alpha2:alpha1-receptor specificity (Carter & Story, 2013).

Several of the side effects of $\alpha 2$ -agonists are also dose-dependent (Flaherty, 2013). Vasoconstriction and reduced cardiac output secondary to bradycardia have been described and administration should therefore be avoided in animals with cardiovascular or hemodynamic impairment (Carter & Story, 2013). In felids, $\alpha 2$ -agonists may stimulate emesis during induction and recovery. Emesis can be reduced by adding the anti-emetic, metoclopramide, in

the induction dose (Morris, 2001). α 2-agonists inhibit the release of norepinephrine, which controls thermoregulation. Administration may therefore result in hypothermia or hyperthermia depending on the ambient temperature (Kurz, 2008).

Two antidotes able to reverse α 2-receptor agonism are yohimbine and, the more selective atipamezole. Atipamezole may, if administered intravenously, cause immediate recovery, hyperexcitation, tachycardia and significant hypotension. Antidote combinations containing atipamezole should therefore be administered intramuscularly or at low pace intravenously (Paddleford & Harvey, 1999).

Benzodiazepines

Benzodiazepines are agonists on the γ -aminobutyric acid-A (GABA_A)-receptor, causing increased affinity for the inhibitory neurotransmitter GABA. Benzodiazepines cause amnesia, muscle relaxation and anxiolysis but lack analgesic effects. Depressive influence on cardiorespiratory function is minimal and the drug is overall safe to use, even in compromised animals (Klein & Klide, 1989). Effects are quick and duration short, tolerance development is rare, and the substances are relatively safe to overdose. Benzodiazepines can also be used as anti-convulsant (Lin *et al.*, 1993).

Diazepam and midazolam are frequently used sedatives in wild cats. Midazolam has almost replaced diazepam because of its more predictable intramuscular absorption. Another popular benzodiazepine is zolazepam (Ramsay, 2014). CNS depression by zolazepam is limited and the drug is therefore combined with tiletamine (Telazol®/Zoletil®) resulting in an anaesthetic agent without sedative-hypnotic-respiratory depressant effects. Zolazepam has a longer duration than tiletamine and recovery may therefore be prolonged when using the combination (Lin *et al.*, 1993).

One available reversal agent is flumazenil. The high cost is a major factor to consider when using flumazenil in larger animals (Walzer & Huber, 2002).

Opioids

Butorphanol is a mixed agonist-antagonist opioid analgesic with a potency greater than morphine. Butorphanol is widely used for its sedative and analgesic effects (Bush *et al.*, 2012).

Use of butorphanol results in minimal cardiopulmonary depression compared to other opioids. Respiratory depression may occur, although it is dose-dependent and eventually reaches a ceiling after which no further depression occurs. Common CNS effects are nausea and regurgitation. Arousal might occur abruptly if butorphanol is used alone and the animal is stimulated, possessing potential personnel danger. When butorphanol is used in combination with other drugs, anaesthesia is considered safer because of synergistic effects and lower doses also reduce adverse effects (Bush *et al.*, 2012).

Available antidotes for complete reversal of opioids are naloxone, nalmefene, and naltrexone. Partial reversal can be achieved using diprenorphine, which revers the undesirable μ -opioid receptor effects while useful, sedative, effects remain (Bush et al., 2012).

Dopamine-receptor antagonists

One dopamine-receptor antagonist with increasing popularity is the tranquilizer azaperone. Antagonism of the dopamine-receptor is associated with potential side effects, for example muscle tremors and restlessness (Potter & Hollister, 2001). Azaperone is also an antagonist on α 1-adrenoreceptors, causing relaxation in smooth muscle which results in vasodilation, decreased blood pressure and eventual increase of heart rate (Gregorio *et al.*, 2010; Lees & Serrano, 1976).

Discussion

Capture is a stressful process for the animal and may result in injuries (Deem, 2004). In studies where dogs have been used to catch jaguars, the cats have fled up in trees and later fallen when drugs start to give effect. Minimizing the stressful elements of capture is important due to major impact of stress on physiological parameters which interfere with, and may compromise the effect of anaesthesia (Deem, 2004).

Since administration of immobilization agents takes place from a distance, remote drug delivery systems (RDDS) are used. For immobilization of felids in cages or snares, blowpipes or pole syringes can be used while in free-ranging situations, rifles loaded with lightweight darts are preferred (Deem, 2004). Because of the different aspects to consider, deciding on a capture method is undoubtedly difficult since all methods have drawbacks. If using snares or cages, the leopard will experience high stress levels since the animal is physically caught but still fully conscious. Darting a free-ranging animal probably shortens the period of acute stress but increases the risk of darting injuries.

It is difficult to decide which immobilization protocol to use for free-ranging animals. Immobilization should always take place in areas where the risk of a sedated animal obtaining injuries or drowning is minimized. Anaesthetic or sedative agents with available reversal drugs are preferred to avoid leaving the animal in a semi-sedated state, exposed to predators (Carter & Story, 2013). A leopard is a big carnivore that, in a normal state, can defend itself but predators may take advantage of a leopard in a weakened state. However, it is not recommended to leave an unrecovered animal due to various reasons.

I have found only few articles about immobilization of leopards. According to Morris (2001), the pharmacokinetics of most wild felids are similar to domestic cats. This must be interpreted with caution since effects of certain drugs may be species specific. Most sedative and anaesthetic drugs are considered relatively safe in wild felids, but anyone working with an immobilized animal should know how to react if emergencies arise (Deem, 2004).

When going through the articles, I found that most drug protocols are built upon combinations. By combining different drugs, wanted effects can be potentiated and side effects counteracted.

Combinations often result in a low total volume which is desirable when using RDDS but also to reduce many side effects, especially dose-dependent effects.

Every veterinarian has personal preferences for which protocol to use. Knowledge of different drugs and experience with protocols simplify the procedure and signs of under- or overdosing will be noticed easier and sooner.

α2-receptor agonist + NMDA-receptor antagonist

Ketamine is the most common dissociative agent for immobilization of wild carnivores and is often combined with $\alpha 2$ -agonists (Morris, 2001). Medetomidine's potentiating effect on ketamine is greater than xylazine's (Jalanda & Roeken, 1990). A low dose is cost-efficient, saves valuable atipamezole and reduces side effects (Morris, 2001).

Ketamine+xylazine combinations are often used in wild felids and studies have shown the combination successfully used in snow leopards, jaguars, lions, different leopard subspecies (*Panthera pardus* spp.), pumas (*Puma concolor*), and clouded leopards (*Neofelis nebulosa*) (Morris, 2001; Deem, 2004; Fahlman, 2008). If the initial dose is considered too low, supplemental doses of ketamine can be given intramuscularly. Iteration of xylazine should be avoided (Belsare & Athreya, 2010). Lions require higher doses of ketamine and supplemental doses may be inevitable. Recoveries may occur very abruptly (Fahlman, 2008). Combinations that may cause abrupt arousals should, in my opinion, be avoided considered large carnivores since quick recoveries possess a great danger for the team.

In a study, using the ketamine+medetomidine combination, three out of five lions vomited after atipamezole reversal (Tomizawa *et al.*, 1997). In snow leopards atipamezole has provided smooth recoveries and in leopards no vomiting was observed after use of yohimbine (Jalanka, 1989; Deka *et al.*, 2012).

In a study, 55 wild Indian leopards (*Panthera pardus fusca*), were immobilized with a ketamine+xylazine combination. Regurgitation was noted in six leopards and seizures in three (Belsare & Athreya, 2010). Important to note is that drug availability in India is very limited which restricts the possibility to compare the combination with other drug protocols. In the study, doses were adjusted subjectively according to estimated weight and physiological parameters and therefore, the risk of under- or overdosing is large. I am unsure if the side effects are due to inaccurate doses, or the effect of the actual drugs used, but seizure may indicate a ketamine-overdose. Another study from India included four Indian leopards, immobilized with the same combination. Three out of four cats had elevated body temperatures, but other physiological parameters remained normal (Deka *et al.*, 2012). α2-agonists might be a factor contributing to hyperthermia, but stress is probably also an important circumstance in this study.

In domestic cats, the ketamine+medetomidine combination has, after reversal with atipamezole, resulted in significant tachycardia. Medetomidine has a suppressive effect on heart rate which may result in bradycardia (Verstegen *et al.*, 1991). When medetomidine is reversed, the cardiovascular stimulating effect by ketamine remains, and tachycardia arise (Tomizawa *et al.*, 1997). All cats in the study also showed moderate ataxia during the recovery period (Verstegen *et al.*, 1991). Tachycardia and ataxia arose after reversal which indicate that ketamine had not

been metabolised. A possible solution to avoid these side effects is reduction of the ketamine dose or postponing the administration of reversal.

The most common side effects for wild felids immobilized with ketamine+medetomidine are regurgitation, short-term apnoea and reduced respiratory rates if ratios of medetomidine are high (Ramsay, 2014). Hypoventilation and apnoea are possible side effects of ketamine, and α 2-agonists are known to have a slight suppressive effect on respiration. I have not yet found evidence on how often this occurs in leopards during immobilization. Besides regurgitation, it is to me unknown if other side effects have been observed in leopards whilst using this combination.

Finally, detomidine used in combination with ketamine has been used in African leopards and pumas resulting in an immobilization almost identical to the ketamine+medetomidine combination (Morris, 2001).

Time requiring procedures with $\alpha 2$ -agonists may result in hyperkalaemia, observed in studies involving tigers, cheetahs (*Acinonyx jubatus*), pumas and Persian leopards (*Panthera pardus saxicolor*) (Jimenez *et al.*, 2020; Reilly *et al.*, 2014; Bernal *et al.*, 2019). I strongly recommend continuous monitoring of electrolytes during longer procedures to ensure that potassium is not reaching dangerously high concentrations. A recently published study, where a one-year-old black leopard was anaesthetised with alfaxalone+ketamine+isoflurane proved that alfaxalone, may be a profitable alternative to $\alpha 2$ -agonists to avoid hyperkalaemia. The combination is solely recommended for captive animals, able to hand-inject, due to the large volume needed (Jimenez *et al.*, 2020). In future, alfaxalone might be available in higher concentration and thus become an alternative also in free-ranging animals. If this combination is generally successful, should be interpreted with caution since the study only included one, very young, leopard.

NMDA-receptor antagonist + benzodiazepine

Tiletamine+zolazepam (Telazol®) alone, provides a cataleptic deep anaesthesia with maintenance of normal pharyngeal-laryngeal reflexes. A common side effect is hypersalivation (Lukasik & Gillies, 2003). Hypersalivation in combination with retained gag reflexes may result in vomiting and refluxes. According to Deem (2004) hypersalivation can be reduced with atropine. If atropine is used, eventual side effects must be taken in consideration since atropine affects various systems in the body.

Telazol® provides a shorter induction time, longer duration, and usually better muscle relaxation than ketamine but the recovery may be prolonged (Ramsay, 2014). A prolonged recovery may be beneficial when working with large carnivores. Both due to personnel safety but also to give the animal time to metabolize the drugs. On the contrary I would not recommend leaving a semi-sedated animal without observation.

Deem (2004) recommends a ketamine+Telazol® combination for wild jaguars. Ketamine can be added directly to the initial dose, or as a supplement to adjust depth of anaesthesia. Flumazenil enables quicker recoveries by reversing the effect of zolazepam. Since tiletamine cannot be reversed, one must wait until tiletamine has been metabolised before administering flumazenil.

According to Morris (2001), cheetahs and tigers respond differently to ketamine compared to other felids. They have an enhanced risk of seizures and a few tigers have been reported dead after use of Telazol®. According to Kreeger & Armstrong (2010) literature has claimed Telazol® contraindicated in tigers. However, their search for confirmation of this statement was unsuccessful. Searching for validation resulted in an assumption that the contraindication had become an unsubstantiated dogma since the mortality rate of Telazol® was not significantly, or at all, higher in tigers than other animals or by other anaesthetic agents. I cannot see why tigers, also related to the *Panthera* genus, would respond differently compared to leopards. A study of Lewis *et al.* (2014) could not identify any statistically significant differences in tigers' versus leopards' pharmacokinetics of Telazol® and leopards seemed unaffected of Telazol®.

Tiletamine and zolazepam are only available at the market as a pre-set combination. A possible area of future research could be to investigate the perfect ratio between the two drugs. It could be possible that some side effects can be avoided with an increased ratio of zolazepam. In addition, different species almost certainly benefit from different ratios.

α2-agonist + NMDA-receptor antagonist + benzodiazepine

Medetomidine+Telazol® has been reported safe and effective for many different wildlife species. In wild snow leopards in Mongolia the combination provided normal muscle relaxation without vomiting nor hypersalivation. Body temperature, heart and respiration rates decreased significantly but were kept within clinical acceptable range. It was noted that higher doses of medetomidine resulted in prolonged duration (Johansson $\it et al., 2013$). The ambient temperatures were very low and medetomidines interference with thermoregulation supposedly caused the hypothermia. The $\alpha 2$ -agonists´suppressive cardiac effect is also a possible background to the bradycardia.

In a study including 17 free-ranging lions, it was noticed that the dose of Telazol®, in combination with medetomidine, can be kept very low. Only one tenth of a standardized dose of Telazol® for wild lions is sufficient for a successful anaesthesia. Because of the low doses, prolonged recoveries were avoided. 11 out of 21 lions developed hyperthermia (Fahlman, 2008). A possible explanation is that the hyperthermia was caused by medetomidine, like in the study by Johansson *et al.* (2013). In contrast to the study of Johansson *et al.* the ambient temperature during Fahlman's study ranged from 30-33°C, resulting in hyperthermia rather than hypothermia. Hyperthermia developed, despite use of different capture methods, which indicates that type of drugs is a strongly contributing factor.

Medetomidine+Telazol® combinations have been successfully used in, seemingly, healthy African leopards (A. Fraser, personal communication). In a published article on two old, very compromised captured Arabian leopards (*Panthera pardus nimr*), medetomidine+Telazol® was used in combination with 100% oxygen gas intubation. Due to renal failure, lower doses were administered but the anaesthesia was, despite the health conditions, adequate and safe. Time for induction and recovery were shorter than in previous experiences with healthy leopards using medetomidine+ketamine (Golachowski *et al.*, 2018). Overall, this study

suggests that Medetomidine+Telazol® combinations may be advantageous compared to the medetomidine+ketamine combination in compromised leopards although the results must be interpreted with caution since the study only contained two leopards.

The results of these studies show that the medetomidine+Telazol® combination is safe to use even in compromised animals. Most important to monitor is body temperature which seems to fluctuate individually and depends greatly on ambient temperatures.

Opioid + benzodiazepine + α2-agonist

The new BMM-combination (butorphanol+midazolam+medetomidine) is completely reversible and affirmed ideal for field procedures where a quick recovery and release are desirable (Alves, 2022; Lafortune *et al.*, 2005). Ketamine can be added in stressful situations when adrenaline competes with medetomidine. Alves (2022) has immobilized extremely compromised and stressed spotted hyenas (*Crocuta crocuta*) safely with the combination. Safe and reliable immobilization with no vomiting, apnoea or sudden arousals have been noted in studies of black-footed cats (*Felis nigripes*) even when doses for wild versus captured cats differentiated a lot (Eggers *et al.*, 2020). In cheetahs, abrupt arousals have been observed (Lafortune *et al.*, 2005). Low doses of medetomidine and/or butorphanol can result in sudden arousal when used without a dissociative agent (Bush *et al.*, 2012). With evidence of previous studies, higher doses and addition of a dissociative agent might be inevitable, especially in free-ranging animals who are stimulated easier.

According to Bush *et al.* (2012) the BMM combination has been successfully used in many cheetahs, including very compromised ones, and also in free-ranging lions, African wild dogs (*Lycaon pictus*) and spotted hyenas. Physiological parameters have remained good but bradycardia, accentuated sinus arrhythmia and hypertension have arisen in cheetahs (Lafortune *et al.*, 2005). Colburn (2017) reported that butorphanol+dexmedetomidine+midazolam combinations provided a quick induction, good muscle relaxation and rapid recoveries, but did cause severe hypertension in all cheetahs in the study. With evidence of the last two described studies, hypertension appears to be an important side effect in cheetahs. Although, since cheetahs may respond differently to immobilization agents, the results cannot be extrapolated directly to leopards.

To my knowledge no articles have been published, showcasing the combination has been used in leopards, although other felids have been successfully immobilized. According to field veterinarians in South Africa, the BMM-combination has been used safely in leopards. In stressful situations, for example cage traps, or for personnel safety ketamine has been added unproblematically (A. Fraser, personal communication; Z. Glyphis, personal communication).

Major advantages are the availability of reversal agents and a safe and reliable immobilization. Addition of ketamine appears to be unproblematic and is a good supplement for adjusting depth and duration. The biggest disadvantage is, in my opinion, the development of hypertension seen in cheetahs. Possibly the hypertension can be avoided by adjusting the ratio of the different drugs used. The cheetahs who experienced hypertension were all captive and since captivity is

usually an indication for a lower dose, the hypertension might therefore be a symptom of an overdose.

Opioid + dopamine-antagonist + α2-agonist

Recently the fully reversible BAM-combination (butorphanol+azaperone+medetomidine) has become very popular for its use in hoofstock and large carnivores. Total volume can be kept very low and eventual addition of ketamine, useful in stressful situations, provides an even more effective immobilization (Bush *et al.*, 2012).

In a study made of Semjonov *et al.* (2017) evaluating the BAM combination in 20 lions, induction times were similar to the BMM combination, slightly longer than medetomidine+Telazol® but much shorter than ketamine+xylazine according to compared studies. Increased ratio of medetomidine reduces induction time (Semjonov, 2020).

Studies have shown that BAM provides a reliable and reversible immobilization in various species, for example lion, cheetah, blesbok (*Damaliscus pygargus phillipsi*), leopard, and wild dogs (Semjonov, 2020; Alves, 2022). A slight bradycardia has been noticed in lions, but observations of cheetahs have shown indication of slight increases of heart rates (Semjonov, 2020). A possible approach to tackle the cardiovascular issues could be increased doses of azaperone which may counteract cardiovascular effects of medetomidine, like bradycardia. For the cheetahs with tachycardia, the reversed might apply. With a decreased ratio of azaperone, medetomidine's suppressive cardiac effect might decelerate the heart rate.

According to Bush *et al.* (2012), immobilization with BAM is characterised by excellent respiration, good muscle relaxation and lack of hyperthermia. BAM provides a smoother and more rapid recovery than BMM and other combinations. In lions, reversal with naltrexone+atipamezole provided a shortened time for recovery compared to naltrexone+yohimbine. During initial recovery, slight signs of ataxia were observed (Semjonov, 2020).

I have not yet found any published articles where BAM has been used in leopards but through personal communication, I have received confirmation that the combination has been safely used in African leopards (A. Fraser, personal communication; Z. Glyphis, personal communication). As a side effect during induction, temporary apnoea is quite common (A. Fraser, personal communication).

Major advantages for the BAM-combination are, in my opinion, the very low volume, possibility to add ketamine and the fully reversibility. Disadvantages are cardiovascular effects and ataxia during recovery after reversal. It could be possible to manage the cardiovascular effects by decreasing the ratio of medetomidine which will not agonise the $\alpha 2$ -receptors to the same extent. The lower ratio would also reduce the reversal dose needed or even avoid it. Another possibility might be to increase the ratio of azaperone resulting in vasodilation which may increase the heart rate.

Other combinations worth mentioning used in wild felids

Ketamine+butorphanol+medetomidine has been used successfully in free ranging servals (*Leptailurus serval*) providing a predictable and reliable immobilization similar to the BMM combination but with increased ataxia during recovery (Blignaut, 2019). A likely explanation to ataxia is remains of ketamine in the body. I have not yet found any published articles where the combination ketamine+butorphanol+medetomidine has been used in leopards but based on experience by a field veterinarian the combination has been used in African leopards, without any noticed side effects (A. Fraser, personal communication).

The drug combination dexmedetomidine+ketamine+isoflurane has resulted in severe hyperkalaemia in two jaguars. The author presents earlier studies where hyperkalaemia has occurred in tigers, cheetahs, and lions (Romano *et al.*, 2018). Again, this study emphasises the relevance of monitoring during anaesthesia. Electrolyte levels should be monitored frequently. Even after a seemingly successful immobilization, potassium levels can be dangerous elevated and result in death days afterwards.

Free-ranging versus captive animals

Few published studies compare immobilization under field conditions versus captive conditions. Doses needed for free-ranging animals are usually higher than for captive animals (Eggers *et al.*, 2020). Standard doses without having to estimate bodyweight is useful since estimation is subjective and often very difficult. If dosing per kilogram bodyweight, one must balance the risk of the animal escaping versus the risk of overdosing. In field situations, drugs safe to overdose are therefore useful since an exact estimation is impossible but the team must know how to deal with both under- and overdosing.

It is more difficult to manage immobilization of sick animals than healthy ones. An important problem to bear in mind is that health status of a free-ranging animal is difficult to predict. In captive felids it is easier since the animal most probably has been monitored, at least a few days in advance.

Choice of drug might differentiate between captive versus field circumstances because of total volume. Drugs must be available in very high concentrations to enable use in field. Capture method may also be a factor of impact on the choice of protocol. Wildlife veterinarian Zoe Glyphis prefers to use the medetomidine+Telazol® combination in wild leopards caught with a cage to minimize the risk of spontaneous arousals (Z. Glyphis, personal communication). For free-ranging leopards the BMM or BAM combination is preferred due to its reversibility which avoids leaving the animal in a semi-sedated state. The medetomidine+ketamine combination is preferred due to its cost efficiency and predictive anaesthesia when working with relaxed, captive leopards. Although, very ataxic awakenings might occur if medetomidine is reversed to soon. According to the veterinarian, complications with anaesthesia are rarely seen in leopards, except for the above-mentioned ataxia.

The method of capture has a great impact on physiological parameters. Physical exertion and stress increase the risk of capture-associated morbidity and mortality (Arnemo *et al.*, 2006). An exhausted animal has elevated levels of lactic acid which can predispose to muscle fatigue,

cardiac arrythmias and organ failure (Spraker, 1993 see Fahlman, 2008). To prevent capture myopathy azaperone can be used since azaperone exerts protective effects by increasing blood flow through muscles due to vasodilation (Mentaberre *et al.*, 2010).

Stressful situations cause release of catecholamines in the body, such as epinephrine, which compete with certain immobilization agents and tend to suppress their effect (Morris, 2001). In stressful situations supplementary drugs or doses may be inevitable and reversal cannot be administered to early if rough recoveries are to be avoided (Alves, 2022). Total time for immobilization might therefore be prolonged in wild animals compared to captive animals due to the higher levels of catecholamines in wild animals resulting in need of increased and/or supplementary doses.

Hyperthermia and acidosis can cause death during, or after the procedure (Fahlman, 2005). An initial increase of body temperature is to be expected in a stressed animal but may later decrease due to effect of drugs (Johansson *et al.*, 2013). Ambient temperatures cannot be controlled and individuals respond differently to drugs. It is therefore of outer necessity to bring equipment enabling both an increase and decrease of body temperature, for example blankets, water, and fans.

Conditions while working with captive animals can be controlled to an extent that is impossible in the field. Captive leopards are also more used to the sight of humans compared to wild leopards. Merely the sight of a human can terrify a wild leopard. Deka *et al.* (2012) state that avoidance of auditory and visual stimuli of humans ease the work with wild leopards who are unaccustomed to messy surroundings.

In captive circumstances, where leopards can be kept safe, reversal may not be necessary. Leopards can then metabolise the drugs in a natural way while monitoring can be continued (Belsare & Athreya, 2010). I would never recommend leaving a wild animal in a semi-sedated state, unobserved.

I believe that the most important when immobilizing animals is to possess good knowledge of the drugs you decide to use. Knowledge, in combination with close monitoring is of outer importance to react and treat the animal correctly. In Fahlman's (2008) study the same protocol was used, capturing methods varied and so did ambient temperatures. Despite this, animals anesthetised in +3°C developed hyperthermia while hypothermia developed in +33°C. This highlights the individual differences and strengthens the importance of close monitoring.

Acknowledgments

I wish to express my gratitude and admiration for the guidance, support, and feedback that wildlife veterinarian Zoe Glyphis and Andy Fraser have provided. Thank you. I would also like to extend my sincere thanks to my dad for proofreading and an everlasting support and patience. Finally, a thank you to Gunnar Carlsson and Jens Jung who made this thesis possible.

References

- Alves, J. (2022). *The Use of the BMM Protocol in the Immobilization of African Wildlife Species* https://wildlifecaptureandcare.com/3946-2/ [2023-02-29]
- Ansah, Raekallio, & Vainio (1998). Comparison of three doses of dexmedetomidine with medetomidine in cats following intramuscular administration. *Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 21 (5), 380–387.
- Arnemo, J.M., Ahlqvist, P., Andersen, R., Berntsen, F., Ericsson, G., Odden, J., Brunberg, S., Segerström, P. & Swenson, J.E. (2006). Risk of capture-related mortality in large free-ranging mammals: experiences from Scandinavia. *Wildlife Biology*, 12 (1), 109–113.
- Belsare, A. V., & Athreya, V. R. (2010). Use of xylazine hydrochloride-ketamine hydrochloride for immobilization of wild leopards (*Panthera pardus fusca*) in emergency situations. *Journal of Zoo and Wildlife Medicine: Official Publication of the American Association of Zoo Veterinarians*, 41 (2), 331–333.
- Bernal, S.D., Hoby, S. and Levionnois, O.L.R. (2019). Acute hyperkalaemia in a captive Persian leopard (*Panthera pardus saxicolor*) immobilised with a ketamine-medetomidine combination. *Veterinary Record Case Reports*, 7(1).
- Blignaut, C.J. (2019). Ketamine-butorphanol-medetomidine versus butorphanol-midazolam-medetomidine immobilisation of serval (*Leptailurus serval*). Dissertion of University of Pretoria.
- Bush, M., Citino, S. B., & Lance, W. R. (2012). The use of butorphanol in anesthesia protocols for zoo and wild mammals. In: Miller, R.E. & Fowler. (eds) *Fowler's Zoo and Wild Animal Medicine: Current Therapy*, volume 7. Missouri: Saunders. 596-603. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-1-4377-1986-4.00077-9
- Chen, H.S.V. & Lipton, S.A. (2006). The chemical biology of clinically tolerated NMDA receptor antagonists. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 97 (6), 1611-1626.
- Cohen, S.P., Bhatia, A., Buvanendran, A., Schwenk, E.S., Wasan, A.D., Hurley, R.W., Viscusi, E.R., Narouze, S., Davis, F.N., Ritchie, E.C., Lubenow, T.R. & Hooten, W.M. (2018). Consensus Guidelines on the Use of Intravenous Ketamine Infusions for Chronic Pain From the American Society of Regional Anesthesia and Pain Medicine, the American Academy of Pain Medicine, and the American Society of Anesthesiologists. *Regional Anesthesia and Pain Medicine*, 43 (5), 521–546.
- Colburn, A.M.W., Murray, S., Hayek, L.C., Marker, L., Sanchez, C.R. (2017). Cardiorespiratory effects of dexmedetomidine-butorphanol-midazolam (DBM): a fully reversible anesthetic protocol in captive and semi–free-ranging cheetahs (*Acinonyx jubatus*). *Journal of Zoo and Wildlife Medicine*, 48 (1), 40-47.
- de Araujo, G.R., de Deco-Souza, T., Morato, R.G., Crawshaw Jr., P.G., da Silva, L.C., Jorge-Neto, P.N., Csermak-Jr, A.C., Bergo, L.C.F., Kantek, D.L.Z., Miyazaki, S.S., Beisiegel, B. de M., Tortato, F.R., May-Junior, J.A., da Silva, M.C.C., Leuzinger, L., Salomão-Jr, J.A. & de Paula, T.A.R. (2021). Use of foot snares to capture large felids. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 12 (2), 322–327.
- Deem, S. (2004). Capture and Immobilization of Free-living Jaguars (Panthera onca). In: Heard, D. (ed.). *Zoological Restraint and Anesthesia*. New York: International Veterinary Information Service. https://www.ivis.org/library/zoological-restraint-and-anesthesia/capture-and-immobilization-of-free-living-jaguars
- Deka, K., Athreya, V., Odden, M., & Linnell, J. (2012). Chemical immobilization of Leopard Panthera pardus in the wild for collaring in Maharashtra, India. *Journal of the Bombay Natural History Society*, 109 (3), 153-157.
- Eggers, B., Tordiffe, A.S.W., Lamberski, N., Lawrenz, A., Sliwa, A., Wilson, B., Meyer, L.C.R. (2020). Evaluation of two doses of butorphanol-medetomidine-midazolam for the immobilization of wild

- versus captive black-footed cats (Felis nigripes). Journal of Zoo and Wildlife Medicine, 51 (3), 497-506
- Fahlman, Å. (2005). *Anaesthesia of Wild Carnivores and Primates*. Licentiate at Swedish University of Agriculture. http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:slu:epsilon-752
- Fahlman, Å. (2008). *Advances in Wildlife Immobilisation and Anasthesia*. Dissertation at Swedish University of Agriculture http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:slu:epsilon-2643
- Flaherty, D. (2013). Alpha2-adrenoceptor agonists in small animal practice 1. Why they do what they do. *In Practice*, 35 (9), 524–530.
- Golachowski, A., Al Hashmi, S., Golachowska, B. (2018). Isolation and preservation of multipotent mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow of Arabian leopard (*Panthera pradus nimr*). *Open Veterinary Journal*, 8 (3), 325-329.
- Idvall, J., Ahlgren, I., Aronsen, K.F. & Stenberg, P. (1979). Ketamine infusions: pharmacokinetics and clinical effects. *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, 51 (12), 1167–1173.
- IUCN Red List of Threatened Species (2015). Leopard Panthera pardus. International Union for Conservation of Nature. https://www.iucnredlist.org/species/15954/163991139#assessment-information [accessed 2023-01-02]
- Jacobson, A.P., Gerngross, P., Jr, J.R.L., Schoonover, R.F., Anco, C., Breitenmoser-Würsten, C., Durant, S.M., Farhadinia, M.S., Henschel, P., Kamler, J.F., Laguardia, A., Rostro-García, S., Stein, A.B. & Dollar, L. (2016). Leopard (*Panthera pardus*) status, distribution, and the research efforts across its range. *PeerJ*, 4, e1974. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.1974
- Jalanka, H.H. (1989). Medetomidine- and Ketamine-Induced Immobilization of Snow Leopards (*Panthera uncia*): Doses, Evaluation, and Reversal by Atipamezole. *Journal of Zoo and Wildlife Medicine*, 20 (2), 154-162.
- Jalanka, H.H. & Roeken, B.O. (1990). The Use of Medetomidine, Medetomidine-Ketamine Combinations, and Atipamezole in Nondomestic Mammals: A Review. *Journal of Zoo and Wildlife Medicine*, 21 (3), 259-282.
- Jimenez, I. A., Militana, E. A., & Martin-Flores, M. (2020). General anaesthesia of a black leopard (*Panthera pardus*) with alfaxalone, ketamine and isoflurane. *Veterinary Record Case Reports*, 8 (2), e001009. https://doi.org/10.1136/vetreccr-2019-001009
- Johansson, Ö., Kachel, S., Weckworth, B. (2022). Guidelines for Telemetry Studies on Snow Leopards. *Animals*, 12 (13), 1663.
- Johansson, Ö., Malmsten, J., Mishra, C., Lkhagvajav, P., McCarthy, T. (2013). Reversible immobilization of free-ranging snow leopards (*Panthera uncia*) with a combination of medetomidine and tiletamine-zolazepam. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 49 (2), 338-346.
- Klein, L.V. & Klide, A.M. (1989). Central α₂ Adrenergic and Benzodiazepine Agonists and Their Antagonists. *Journal of Zoo and Wildlife Medicine*, 20 (2), 138–153.
- Kohrs, R. & Durieux, M.E. (1998). Ketamine: Teaching an Old Drug New Tricks. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 87 (5), 1186-1193.
- Kreeger, T.J. & Armstrong, D.L. (2010). Tigers and Telazol®: The Unintended Evolution of Caution to Contraindication. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 74 (6), 1183–1185. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1937-2817.2010.tb01238.x
- Kurz, A. (2008). Physiology of Thermoregulation. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Anaesthesiology*, 22 (4), 627–644.
- Lafortune, M., Gunkel, C., Valverde, A., Klein, L. & Citino, S. (2005). Reversible anesthesic combination using medetomidine-butorphanol-midazolam (MBMZ) in cheetahs (*Acinonyx jubatus*). Conference proceeding in: Joint Proceedings of American Association of Zoo Veterinarians, Association of Zoos and Aquariums/Nutrition Scientific Advisory Group, 270–271.

- Lees, P. & Serrano, L. (1976). Effects of azaperone on cardiovascular and respiratory functions in the horse. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 56 (3), 263–269.
- Lewis, J.C.M., Teale, P., Webber, G., Sear, J.W. & Taylor, P.M. (2014). Comparison of tiletamine and zolazepam pharmacokinetics in tigers (*Panthera tigris*) and leopards (*Panthera pardus*): Do species differences account for adverse effects in tigers?', *The Veterinary Journal*, 201 (3), 302–306.
- Lin, H.C., Thurmon, J.C., Benson, G. & Tranquilli, W. (1993). Review: Telazol a review of its pharmacology and use in veterinary medicine. *Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 16 (4), 383-418.
- Lukasik, V.M. & Gillies, R.J. (2003). Animal anaesthesia for in vivo magnetic resonance. *NMR in Biomedicine*, 16 (8), 459–467.
- Mentaberre, G., López-Olvera, J.R., Casas-Díaz, E., Fernández-Sirera, L., Marco, I. & Lavín, S. (2010). Effects of azaperone and haloperidol on the stress response of drive-net captured Iberian ibexes (*Capra pyrenaica*). *European Journal of Wildlife Research*, 56 (5), 757–764.
- Morris, P.J. (2001). Chemical Immobilization of Felids, Ursids, and Small Ungulates. *Veterinary Clinics of North America: Exotic Animal Practice*, 4 (1), 267-298.
- Olney, J.W. (1990). Excitotoxic Amino Acids and Neuropsychiatric Disorders. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology*, 30 (1), 47–71.
- Paddleford, R.R. & Harvey, R.C. (1999). Alpha2 Agonists and Antagonists. *Veterinary Clinics of North America: Small Animal Practice*, 29 (3), 737–745.
- Potter W.Z. & Hollister L.E. (2001). Antipsychotic agents and lithium. In: Katzung B.G. (Ed.) *Basic and Clinical Pharmacology*. 8th ed. New York: McGraw-Hill. ISBN: 9780838505984.
- Semjonov, A. (2020). Evaluation of a fixed-dose combination of butorphanol-azaperone-medetomidine (BAM) for chemical immobilisation of African lion, blesbok, and cheetah. Dissertation at Estonian University of Life Sciences.

 https://dspace.emu.ee/bitstream/handle/10492/6226/20210107 AS PhD thesis final 10.11 Alo.pdf?s equence=4&isAllowed=y
- Semjonov, A., Andrianov, V., Orro, T., Venter, D., Laubscher, L., Pfitzer, S. (2017). Evaluation of BAM (butorphanol-azaperone-medetomidine) in captive African lion (*Panthera leo*) immobilization. *Veterinary Anaesthesia and Analgesia*, 44 (4), 883-889.
- Stein, A.B. & Hayssen, V. (2013). *Panthera pardus* (Carnivora: Felidae). *Mammalian Species*, 45 (900), 30-48.
- Tomizawa, N., Tsujimoto, T., Itoh, K., Ogino, T., Nakamura, K. & Hara, S. (1997). Chemical Restraint of African Lions (*Panthera leo*) with Medetomidine-Ketamine. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science*, 59 (4), 307-310.
- Ramsay, E.C. (2014). Felids. In: West, G., Heard, D. & Caulkett, N. (eds) *Zoo Animal and Wildlife Immobilization and Anesthesia*. 2nd ed. Iowa: John Wiley & Sons. 635–646. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118792919.ch45
- Reilly, S., Seddighi, M.R., Steeil, J.C., Sura, P., Whittemore, J.C., Gompf, R.E., Elliott, S.B. & Ramsay, E.C. (2014). Selected clinical, biochemical, and electrolyte alterations in anesthetized captive tigers (*Panthera tigris*) and lions (*Panthera leo*). *Journal of Zoo and Wildlife Medicine*, 45 (2), 328-334.
- Romano, M., Boesch, J.M., Peralta, S., Parker, C. & Kollias, G. (2018). Hyperkalemia in two jaguars (Panthera onca) anesthetized with dexmedetomidine, ketamine, and isoflurane. *Journal of Zoo and Wildlife Medicine*, 49 (2), 505-507.
- Uphyrkina, O., Johnson, W.E., Quigley, H., Miquelle, D., Marker, L., Bush, M. & O'Brien, S.J. (2001). Phylogenetics, genome diversity and origin of modern leopard, *Panthera pardus. Molecular Ecology*, 10 (11), 2617-2633.

- Verstegen, J., Fargetton, X., Zanker, S., Donnay, I., & Ectors, F. (1991). Antagonistic activities of atipamezole, 4-aminopyridine and yohimbine against medetomidine/ketamine-induced anaesthesia in cats. *The Veterinary record*, 128 (3), 57–60.
- Walzer, C. & Huber, C. (2002). Partial Antagonism of Tiletamine-Zolazepam Anesthesia in Cheetah. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 38 (2), 468-472.
- Williams, L. S., Levy, J. K., Robertson, S. A., Cistola, A. M., & Centonze, L. A. (2002). Use of the anesthetic combination of tiletamine, zolazepam, ketamine, and xylazine for neutering feral cats. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 220 (10), 1491-1495.

Personal communication

Fraser, Andy (15-11-2022)

Glyphis, Zoe (13-11-2022)